Group Benefit Plan





CANADA LIMITED

Hertz Rent-A-Car Vancouver Hourly-paid Union Employees

January 1, 2016

Great-West Life is a leading Canadian life and health insurer. Great-West Life's financial security advisors work with our clients from coast to coast to help them secure their financial future. We provide a wide range of retirement savings and income plans; as well as life, disability and critical illness insurance for individuals and families. As a leading provider of employee benefits in Canada, we offer effective benefit solutions for large and small employee groups.

Great-West Life Online

Visit our website at www.greatwestlife.com for:

- information and details on Great-West Life's corporate profile and our products and services
- investor information
- news releases
- contact information
- claim forms and the ability to submit certain claims online

Great-West Life Online Services for Plan Members

As a Great-West Life plan member, you can also register for GroupNetTM for Plan Members at <u>www.greatwestlife.com</u>. To access this service, click on the GroupNet for Plan Members link. Follow the instructions to register. Make sure to have your plan and ID numbers available before accessing the website. This service enables you to access the following and much more, within a user friendly environment twenty-four hours a day, seven days a week:

- your benefit details and claims history
- personalized claim forms and cards
- online claim submission for
- extensive health and wellness content

Using our GroupNet Mobile app, you can access certain features of GroupNet for Plan Members to:

- submit many of your claims online part of our industry-leading GroupNet online services
- access personalized coverage information about benefits, claims and more quickly and easily, any time
- view card information
- locate the nearest provider who has access to Provider eClaims, through a built-in GPS mapping tool

In addition, by using GroupNet Text, you can get immediate information that is specific to your benefits. GroupNet Text allows you to use your mobile device to access detailed plan information, including:

- plan and member identification numbers
- coverage details (details available depend on your plan design)
- reimbursement amounts
- benefit maximums, balances and more

You can sign up for GroupNet Text on GroupNet for Plan Members under the Your Profile tab.

To use GroupNet Text, go to GroupNet for Plan Members and select the Your Profile tab, then text certain keywords to **204-289-1667**. You will receive an instant text back providing information on your coverage. For a complete list of keywords, text Help. For a brief description of the type of information that a keyword provides, text Help along with the specific keyword.

Compatibility of GroupNet Text may vary by mobile device or operating system.

Great-West Life's Toll-Free Number

To contact a customer service representative at Great-West Life:

for assistance with your medical and dental coverage, please call 1-800-957-9777.

This booklet contains important information and should be kept in a safe place known to you and your family.

The Plan is underwritten by



PROTECTING YOUR PERSONAL INFORMATION

At Great-West Life, we recognize and respect the importance of privacy. Personal information about you is kept in a confidential file at the offices of Great-West Life or the offices of an organization authorized by Great-West Life. Great-West Life may use service providers located within or outside Canada. We limit access to personal information in your file to Great-West Life staff or persons authorized by Great-West Life who require it to perform their duties, to persons to whom you have granted access, and to persons authorized by law. Your personal information may be subject to disclosure to those authorized under applicable law within or outside Canada.

We use the personal information to administer the group benefit plan under which you are covered. This includes many tasks, such as:

- determining your eligibility for coverage under the plan
- enrolling you for coverage
- investigating and assessing your claims and providing you with payment
- managing your claims
- verifying and auditing eligibility and claims
- creating and maintaining records concerning our relationship
- underwriting activities, such as determining the cost of the plan, and analyzing the design options of the plan
- preparing regulatory reports, such as tax slips

Your employer has an agreement with Great-West Life in which your employer has financial responsibility for some or all of the benefits in the plan and we process claims on your employer's behalf. We may exchange personal information with your health care providers, your plan administrator, any insurance or reinsurance companies, administrators of government benefits or other benefit programs, other organizations, or service providers working with us or the above when relevant and necessary to administer the plan.

As plan member, you are responsible for the claims submitted. We may exchange personal information with you or a person acting on your behalf when relevant and necessary to confirm coverage and to manage the claims submitted.

You may request access or correction of the personal information in your file. A request for access or correction should be made in writing and may be sent to any of Great-West Life's offices or to our head office.

For a copy of our Privacy Guidelines, or if you have questions about our personal information policies and practices (including with respect to service providers), write to Great-West Life's Chief Compliance Officer or refer to www.greatwestlife.com.

GROUP BENEFIT PLAN

Table of Contents

YOU SHOULD KNOW	1
DEFINITIONS	3
WHO IS ELIGIBLE TO BECOME COVERED	5
EFFECTIVE DATE OF COVERAGE	7
TERMINATION OF COVERAGE	9
WHEN YOU HAVE A CLAIM	11
GENERAL INFORMATION	14
PART I. INSURED COVERAGES	18
SUMMARY OF COVERAGES	19
EMPLOYEE LIFE COVERAGE	21
ACCIDENTAL DEATH AND DISMEMBERMENT COVERAGE	24
DEPENDENTS LIFE COVERAGE	30
GLOBAL MEDICAL ASSISTANCE COVERAGE	32
PART II. ASO COVERAGES	35
SUMMARY OF COVERAGES	36
SHORT TERM DISABILITY COVERAGE	40
EXTENDED HEALTH CARE COVERAGE	47
DENTAL CARE COVERAGE	55
PART III. PREFERRED VISION SERVICES (PVS)	62
PART IV. DIAGNOSTIC AND TREATMENT SUPPORT SERVICES	
(BEST DOCTORS® SERVICE)	63
PART V CONTACT - EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM	65

YOU SHOULD KNOW

Effective Date of Plan - October 1, 1995

Covered Classes - All eligible Vancouver hourly-paid

union employees

IMPORTANT

The Employee Life Coverage, Accidental Death and Dismemberment Coverage and Global Medical Assistance Coverage described in Part I of this group benefit plan are **insured** under **Group Policy No. 325299**, issued to the Contractholder by Great-West Life. The billing number for the optional portion of the Employee Life Coverage and the Dependents Life Coverage is **168432**.

The Short Term Disability Coverage, Extended Health Care Coverage and Dental Care Coverage described in Part II of this group benefit plan are **not insured** but are administered on behalf of the Contractholder by Great-West Life pursuant to **Administrative Services Agreement (ASO) No. 57030** between the Contractholder and Great-West Life. Because these coverages are not insured, they are not protected by Assuris.

Preferred Vision Services (PVS) described in Part III of this group benefit plan is a service provided by Great-West Life to its customers through Preferred Vision Services. It does not form part of the contract issued to the Contractholder by Great-West Life.

The Diagnostic and Treatment Support Services (Best Doctors® Service) described in Part IV of this group benefit plan is administered under Group Contract No. 325299GDTSS, issued to the Contractholder by Great-West Life.

The Contact – Employee Assistance Program described in Part V of this group benefit plan is administered under Group Contract No. 325299GEAP, issued to the Contractholder by Great-West Life.

The coverages are available to you if you are included in the covered classes shown above. Only those coverages for which you become covered will apply to you.

This booklet describes the principal features of the group benefit plan sponsored by the employer, but Group Policy No. 325299 is the governing document. If there are variations between the information in the booklet and the provisions of the policy, the policy will prevail. Contact the employer if you require any additional information.

This booklet is a description of the group benefits at the date shown on the front cover.

Conformity with law

If any provision of this group benefit plan conflicts with any law which applies to individuals shown in the covered classes, the plan will be amended to conform to that law.

Access to documents

You have the right, upon request, to obtain a copy of the policy, your application and any written statements or other records you have provided to Great-West Life as evidence of insurability, subject to certain limitations.

Cost

The employer pays the entire cost of the coverage except that you pay for the optional life coverage when you enroll for it.

Waiting period, as follows:

- (1) If you are in the employment of the employer on the effective date of plan shown above, you will be eligible for coverage on the later of:
 - (a) the effective date of plan shown above; and
 - (b) the first day of the month coincident with or next following **3 months** of continuous full-time employment.
- (2) If you begin employment with the employer after the effective date of plan shown above, you will be eligible for coverage on the first day of the month coincident with or next following 3 months of continuous full-time employment.

The coverages are described in full on later pages. Be sure to read these pages carefully. They show when benefits are or are not payable, and outline the conditions, limitations and exclusions that apply to the coverages.

DEFINITIONS

Unless specifically stated otherwise, the following definitions apply throughout this group benefit plan.

ACTIVELY AT WORK means you are working at your usual place of employment and performing all of the usual and customary duties of your occupation on a regular full-time basis.

ANNUAL EARNINGS means the current annual salary paid by the employer, excluding overtime and bonuses. For disability benefits, annual earnings will be those in effect at the start of the disability period.

If your hours vary, your earnings are based on the total number of hours worked in the last 12 months. If you have worked less than 12 months, the hours are averaged over the period of employment.

If there is a difference between the actual annual earnings and those reported by the employer for premium purposes, the lesser of the 2 amounts will be considered the annual earnings amount under this group benefit plan.

BENEFITS means any amounts which become payable under a coverage.

CALENDAR YEAR means January 1 through December 31.

CONTRACT means, as the case may be:

- (1) **Group Insurance Policy No. 325299** which provides Employee Life Coverage, Accidental Death and Dismemberment Coverage, Dependents Life Coverage and Global Medical Assistance Coverage; or
- (2) Administrative Services Agreement No. 57030 which applies to the Short Term Disability Coverage, Extended Health Care Coverage and Dental Care Coverage.

CONTRACTHOLDER means, as the case may be:

- (1) Hertz Canada Limited in its capacity as the **Policyholder** of Group Insurance Policy No. 325299, which provides Employee Life Coverage, Accidental Death and Dismemberment Coverage, Dependents Life Coverage and Global Medical Assistance Coverage; or
- (2) Hertz Canada Limited in its capacity as the **Purchaser** of Administrative Services Agreement No. 57030, which applies to the Short Term Disability Coverage, Extended Health Care Coverage and Dental Care Coverage.

COVERED PERCENTAGE is the percentage of eligible charges shown in the Summary of Coverages, which will be reimbursed under a coverage after satisfaction of the deductible.

COVERED PERSON is an individual who is covered for employee coverage under a coverage, or a qualified dependent with respect to whom an employee is covered for dependents coverage under a coverage.

DEDUCTIBLE is the amount of eligible charges shown in the Summary of Coverages, which must be paid by or on behalf of a covered person in any calendar year before reimbursement will be made under a coverage.

EMPLOYER means Hertz Rent-A-Car.

FULL-TIME BASIS means you regularly work at least 24 hours per week on a full-time basis for the employer.

GREAT-WEST LIFE means The Great-West Life Assurance Company.

PHYSICIAN means a duly licensed doctor of medicine (M.D.).

SICKNESS means any disorder of the body or mind, including one caused by pregnancy.

YOU refers to the employee of the employer as shown in the covered classes on the You Should Know page.

WHO IS ELIGIBLE TO BECOME COVERED

FOR EMPLOYEE COVERAGE

You are eligible for employee coverage when you:

- (1) are within the covered classes shown on the You Should Know page;
- (2) are working on a full-time basis; and
- (3) have completed the waiting period shown on the You Should Know page.

If your coverage ends because of leave of absence, layoff or disability and you are re-employed within 6 months of the date of termination, you will be eligible for coverage on the first day you are actively at work.

FOR DEPENDENTS COVERAGE

You are eligible for dependents coverage while you are eligible for employee coverage and you have a qualified dependent.

"Qualified dependent" means your spouse and dependent children as defined below.

SPOUSE

"Spouse" means either:

- (1) an individual to whom you are legally married; or
- (2) your common-law spouse who is an individual of either sex with whom you have been cohabiting for a period of at least 12 months and whom you publicly represent as your spouse.

You must state the name of the person to be considered your spouse for the purposes of the contract. Only one spouse will be considered at any time as being covered under the contract.

DEPENDENT CHILD

"Dependent child" means either:

- (1) an unmarried person who is your natural child or your adopted child; or
- (2) a step-child, foster child, or a child of a common-law spouse, who resides with you and is dependent on you for support;

and who is:

- younger than 22 years of age; or
- (2) 22 years but younger than 26 years of age, and in full-time attendance at an accredited institute of learning, and dependent on you for support; or
- (3) 22 years or older and incapable to self-sustaining employment due to a mental or physical handicap. Such child's coverage will be continued under the contract, provided the child was covered under the contract as a dependent on the day prior to his or her 22nd birthday and remains dependent on you for support.

FOR EMPLOYEE AND DEPENDENTS COVERAGE

Any individual residing outside of Canada will not be eligible to be covered, unless an exception is requested by the employer and approved in writing by Great-West Life.

If you and your spouse are employed by the employer, each of you may be eligible for and apply for employee and dependents coverage.

EFFECTIVE DATE OF COVERAGE

EMPLOYEE COVERAGE

The effective date of your coverage will be determined as follows:

- (1) When you are required to contribute toward the cost of coverage, on the later of the following dates:
 - (a) the date you become eligible for employee coverage;
 - (b) the date your completed written application is received by the employer, provided application is made within 31 days of your date of eligibility. However, if you apply later than 31 days after your date of eligibility or if you apply for any optional life coverage, you must provide evidence of insurability and the effective date of your coverage will be the date Great-West Life approves the evidence.
- (2) When you are not required to contribute toward the cost of coverage, your coverage will commence on your date of eligibility.

Evidence of insurability may be required to be submitted at your expense.

In any event, if you are not actively at work on the date your coverage is to be effective, it will become effective when you return to active work.

DEPENDENTS COVERAGE

The effective date of a dependent's coverage will be the latest of the following dates:

- (1) If you already have a qualified dependent at the time you become eligible for employee coverage, that dependent's coverage will be effective on the date the employee coverage is effective.
- (2) If you have dependents coverage on a dependent on the date you acquire another qualified dependent, this dependent's coverage will be effective immediately.
- (3) If you have no qualified dependents at the time you become eligible for employee coverage and later acquire a qualified dependent, this dependent's coverage will be effective on the date you apply for dependents coverage, provided application is made within 31 days of the date you are first eligible for dependents coverage, otherwise the dependent's coverage will be effective on the date Great-West Life approves the evidence of insurability submitted for the dependents. However, any optional dependents life coverage for your spouse will only become effective on the date Great-West Life approves the required evidence of insurability.
- (4) A dependent's coverage will be effective on the date the dependent is discharged from the hospital if the dependent, other than a newborn child, is confined in a hospital on the date his or her coverage would otherwise have commenced. This does not apply to the Dental Care Coverage.

Evidence of a dependent's insurability may be required to be submitted at your expense.

CHANGE IN COVERAGE

If your coverage changes due to a change in earnings or classification, or as a result of a plan change, your coverage will not be adjusted until the first day, on or after the date of the change, on which you are actively at work and the appropriate contribution is being made.

If your dependents coverage changes due to a change in your classification, or as a result of a plan change, and a dependent (other than a newborn child) is confined in a hospital on the effective date of the change, the coverage will not be adjusted until the dependent is discharged from the hospital. This restriction does not apply to the Dental Care Coverage.

TERMINATION OF COVERAGE

EMPLOYEE COVERAGE

Your coverage will terminate on the earliest of the following dates:

- (1) the date you cease to be a member of any eligible class because of termination of employment (described below) with the employer or for any other reason;
- (2) the date your class is terminated;
- (3) the date you enter service in the armed forces of any country;
- (4) the date the employer ceases to make contributions for you;
- (5) the date you attain the termination age shown in the Summary of Coverages; and
- (6) the date the contract terminates.

Termination of employment

For the purposes of the contract, your employment will be considered to terminate when you are no longer actively at work for the employer. However, if you are absent from work for any of the reasons described in the Continuation of Coverage During Absence From Work section below, the employer may, without discrimination among persons in like circumstance, consider you as not having terminated employment for the purposes of the contract and as continuing to be a member of any eligible class, and coverage will then be continued as outlined in the section below.

CONTINUATION OF COVERAGE DURING ABSENCE FROM WORK

Your coverage will be continued while you are absent from work due to:

- (1) **sickness or injury**, until the earliest of the dates specified in the above Employee Coverage section.
- (2) **approved leave of absence,** for a period of time outlined in the collective agreement.
- (3) **temporary layoff,** until the end of the month following the month in which you were laid off or your leave commenced.

If the employer has terminated your employment and is required to extend benefits to you during a prescribed notice of termination in accordance with any federal or provincial employment standards legislation, you may continue to be covered under the contract for that period. The employer must ask for the continuation in writing and in no event will it extend past the date on which the contract terminates.

DEPENDENTS COVERAGE

A dependent's coverage will terminate on the earliest of the following dates:

- (1) the date your own coverage terminates;
- (2) the date the dependent ceases to be a qualified dependent;
- (3) the date Great-West Life receives a request to terminate the dependent's coverage; and
- (4) the date the employer ceases to make contributions for dependents coverage.

WHEN YOU HAVE A CLAIM

LIFE COVERAGE

Employee life coverage

Proof of death must be sent to the employer, who will provide the proper claim forms for completion.

Dependents life coverage

You must provide the employer with proof of death. The employer will provide the proper claim forms for completion.

ACCIDENTAL DEATH AND DISMEMBERMENT COVERAGE

Death claims

Proof of death must be sent to the employer, who will provide the proper claim forms for completion.

Dismemberment claims

Contact the employer to obtain the proper claim forms and instructions.

SHORT TERM DISABILITY COVERAGE

To submit claims online, go to <u>www.greatwestlife.com</u> > Client Services > Forms for Group Benefits Plan Members > Standard Claim Forms. Click Apply for Disability Income Benefits and follow the instructions provided under Online claim submission.

To submit paper claims, obtain an *Employee Claim Submission Guide* (form M5454 or M4307B) and follow the guide's instructions. You can get this form from your employer, or online at www.greatwestlife.com > Client Services > Forms for Group Benefits Plan Members > Standard Claim Forms > Apply for Disability Income Benefits. Under Paper claim submission, click on the appropriate guide.

Forms should be completed without delay to ensure prompt payment of your benefits.

SUBMISSION OF HEALTH AND DENTAL CLAIMS

To make a health claim

Out-of-country claims (other than those for global medical assistance expenses) should be submitted to Great-West Life as soon as possible after the expense is incurred. It is very important that you send your claims to the Great-West Life Out-of-Country Claims Department immediately as your provincial medical plan has very strict time limitations.

Obtain the Statement of Claim Out-of-Country Expenses form from your employer. You must also obtain the Government Assignment form, and residents of British Columbia must also obtain the Special Government Claim form. The Great-West Life Out-of-Country Claims Department will forward the appropriate government forms to your attention when required.

You should complete all applicable forms, making sure all required information is included. Attach all original receipts and forward the claim to the Great-West Life Out-of-Country Claims Department. Be sure to keep a copy for your own records. The plan will pay all eligible claims including your provincial medical plan portion. Your provincial medical plan will then reimburse the plan for the government's share of the expenses.

Out-of-country claims must be submitted within a certain time period that varies by province. For the claims submission period applicable in your province or for any other questions or for assistance in completing any of the forms, please contact Great-West Life's Out-of-Country Claims Department at 1-800-957-9777.

For all other health claims, access GroupNet for Plan Members to obtain a personalized claim form or obtain the health claim form from the employer and send the completed form directly to Great-West Life.

- (1) Keep a separate running record of the covered expenses for each covered person.
- (2) Save all bills; in most instances they will serve as proof of claim.
- (3) Submit claims when a reasonable number of bills and receipts have been accumulated.
- (4) Avoid frequent submission of small claims, but large claims should be submitted promptly.
- (5) Each bill, other than for drugs, should show:
 - (a) patient's full name,
 - (b) date or dates the service was rendered or purchase was made,
 - (c) nature of the sickness or injury,
 - (d) type of service or supply furnished, and
 - (e) itemized charges.
- (6) Each drug bill must show:
 - (a) patient's full name,
 - (b) prescription number and name of medication, and
 - (c) date of purchase and the charge for each item.

If you prefer, claims for expenses incurred in Canada, for prescription drugs, paramedical services and visioncare may be submitted online.

- (1) To use this online service you will need to be registered for GroupNet for Plan Members and signed up for direct deposit of claim payments with eDetails.
- (2) For online claim submissions, your Explanation of Benefits will only be available online.
- (3) You must retain your receipt for 12 months from the date you submit your claim to Great-West Life as a record of the transaction, and you must submit it to Great-West Life on request.

Submit only original bills and receipts; photocopies or carbon copies are not acceptable except when Great-West Life is required to consider prescription drug charges that are not payable under any provincial Pharmacare drug plan.

To make a dental claim

Access GroupNet for Plan Members to obtain a personalized claim form or obtain the dental claim form from the employer, complete the claimant's portion and have the dental service provider complete the provider's statement. The form should then be sent directly to Great-West Life.

If you prefer, you can submit the claim online (for expenses incurred in Canada) by entering the information on the completed claim form. To use this online service you will need to be registered for GroupNet for Plan Members and signed up for direct deposit of claim payments with eDetails. For online claim submissions, your Explanation of Benefits will only be available online. You must retain your receipt for 12 months from the date you submit your claim to Great-West Life as a record of the transaction, and you must submit it to Great-West Life on request.

GENERAL INFORMATION

ASSIGNMENT RULES

Death benefits are not assignable, meaning that ownership of death benefits cannot be transferred to any person or organization.

BENEFICIARY RULES

"Beneficiary" means the person you designate in writing to receive the benefits.

Benefits becoming payable under the contract on account of your death will be paid to your named beneficiary. Any benefit amount for which you have not named a beneficiary or there is no surviving beneficiary at your death will be paid to your estate.

Subject to any statutory rights of any beneficiaries, you may make, alter or revoke a designation of beneficiary at any time by filing a new designation form with the employer. The change will be effective on the date the form is signed, but it will not apply to any payment made by Great-West Life prior to the date the form is received by Great-West Life.

If there is more than one beneficiary and the form does not specify their shares, the beneficiaries will share equally.

If a beneficiary dies before you, that beneficiary's interest will end. It will be shared equally by any remaining beneficiaries unless the designation form states otherwise.

CLAIM RULES

Proof of loss

The time limits for submitting proof of loss under a coverage are described in the applicable coverage description page.

Failure to furnish any such proof within the time required will not invalidate or reduce any such claim if it was not reasonably possible to give proof within such time, provided such proof is furnished as soon as reasonably possible.

Physical examination and autopsy

Great-West Life, at its own expense, will have the right and opportunity to have any covered person, whose injury, sickness or treatment is the basis of a claim, examined by a physician or dentist designated by Great-West Life when and as often as it may reasonably require during the period of a claim under the contract and, in a case of death, to have an autopsy performed where it is not forbidden by law.

Appeals

You have the right to appeal a denial of all or part of the insurance or benefits described in the contract as long as you do so within one year of the initial denial of the insurance or a benefit. An appeal must be in writing and must include your reasons for believing the denial to be incorrect.

Legal action

Every action or proceeding against an insurer for the recovery of insurance money payable under the contract is absolutely barred unless commenced within the time set out in the Insurance Act or other applicable legislation (e.g. *Limitations Act, 2002* in Ontario, Quebec Civil Code).

OVERPAYMENT OF BENEFITS

Nothing in this group benefit plan will prevent Great-West Life from recovering any overpayment of benefits from the person or organization to whom such payment has been made, irrespective of the cause of such overpayment.

If benefits are paid that were not payable under the policy, you are responsible for repayment within 30 days after Great-West Life sends you a notice of the overpayment, or within a longer period if agreed to in writing by Great-West Life. If you fail to fulfill this responsibility, no further benefits are payable under the policy until the overpayment is recovered. This does not limit Great-West Life's right to use other legal means to recover the overpayment.

COORDINATING COVERAGE GUIDELINES FOR OUT-OF-COUNTRY/PROVINCE HEALTH CARE EXPENSES

If a person who is covered under the contract for travel medical assistance or for expenses resulting from emergency or referral health care provided outside Canada or outside the province of residence under the extended health care coverage is also covered under another plan or plans* which provides similar coverage, any claim will be coordinated with the other plan(s) in accordance with the coordinating coverage guidelines for out-of-country/province health care expenses as outlined by the Canadian Life and Health Insurance Association Inc.

* The "other plans" may include employment-related group contracts, individual or group travel or health policies, credit card coverages or any other private insurance source.

COORDINATION OF BENEFITS

If a person who is covered under the contract for extended health care coverage or dental care coverage is also covered under another plan* which provides similar coverage, any claim will be coordinated and/or reduced so that benefits payable from all plans will not exceed 100% of the eligible charges incurred.

The "other plan" is defined as group insurance or any other arrangement of coverage for individuals in a group, whether on an insured or uninsured basis, including any prepayment coverage or capitation plan, as long as the group is not formed solely for the purpose of obtaining insurance. This definition of other plan does not include school insurance or individual travel insurance.

If a person is eligible to receive benefits under this plan and the same, or similar benefits under another plan, payment will be determined as follows:

- (1) The plan which does not contain a coordination of benefits provision will pay before the plan which does.
- (2) If the other plan(s) contains a coordination of benefits provision, priority will be given to the plan(s) in the following order:
 - (a) The plan where the person is covered as a member. However, if a person is a member of 2 or more plans, priority will be given as follows:
 - (i) the plan where the member is covered as an active full-time employee,
 - (ii) the plan where the member is covered as an active part-time employee,
 - (iii) the plan where the member is covered as a retiree.
 - (b) The plan where the person is covered as a dependent spouse.
 - (c) The plan where the person is covered as a dependent child. However, if a person is covered as a dependent child under 2 or more plans, priority will be given as follows:
 - (i) the plan of the parent with the earlier date of birth (month/day) in the calendar year,
 - (ii) the plan of the parent whose first name begins with the earlier letter in the alphabet, if the parents have the same date of birth.

An exception to this rule occurs if the parents are separated/divorced, in which case priority will be given as follows:

- (i) the plan of the parent with custody of the child,
- (ii) the plan of the spouse of the parent with custody of the child,
- (iii) the plan of the parent not having custody of the child,
- (iv) the plan of the spouse of the parent in (iii) above.
- (d) Health plans with dental accident coverage will determine benefits before dental plans, where a person may be able to claim under both plans.
- (e) If priority cannot be established using the above priorities, the benefits will be prorated in proportion to the amounts that would have been paid under each plan had there been coverage under just that plan.

If payments which should have been made under the contract by the terms of this coordination of benefits provision have been made under any other plan, Great-West Life will have the right to pay to any company or organization the amount necessary to satisfy the intent of this coordination of benefits provision. The amounts paid in this manner will be considered benefits paid under the contract and Great-West Life will be fully discharged from liability to the extent of the payments made.

If payments have been made by Great-West Life under the contract which are in excess of the maximum amount of payment necessary to satisfy the intent of this coordination of benefits clause, Great-West Life will have the right to recover any such excess from any company or organization or person to or for whom such payments were made.

TO WHOM PAYABLE

Benefits under a coverage will be payable to you unless otherwise specified within the coverage.

PART I. INSURED COVERAGES

The Employee Life Coverage, Accidental Death and Dismemberment Coverage, Dependents Life Coverage and Global Medical Assistance Coverage described in this part of this group benefit plan are **insured** under **Group Policy No. 325299** issued to the Contractholder by Great-West Life.

SUMMARY OF COVERAGES

COVERAGES FOR YOU

LIFE COVERAGE

Basic coverage: An amount equal to the greater of:

- (1) 100% of your annual earnings (rounded to the next higher multiple of \$1,000 if not already a multiple thereof), up to a maximum of \$100,000; or
- (2) \$25,000.

Reduction: On your 65th birthday, your basic coverage will be 50% of the amount determined above.

Termination: Your basic coverage terminates at your attainment of age 71 or your retirement, if earlier.

Optional coverage: If you have basic coverage, you may choose optional coverage in units of \$10,000, up to a maximum of \$500,000. If you are covered as both an employee and a spouse, you are still limited to the \$500,000 maximum.

To become covered for optional coverage, you will be required to submit **evidence of insurability** satisfactory to Great-West Life if:

- (1) you enroll for the first time for optional coverage; or
- (2) you wish to change to a higher number of units.

Termination: Your optional coverage terminates at your attainment of age 65 or your retirement, if earlier.

Overall maximum of life coverage: In no event will the total amount of your basic and optional life coverage exceed \$600,000.

ACCIDENTAL DEATH AND DISMEMBERMENT COVERAGE

Principal sum: The same as your basic life coverage, subject to the reduction applicable to that life coverage.

Termination: At your attainment of age 71 or your retirement, if earlier.

COVERAGE FOR YOUR QUALIFIED DEPENDENTS

LIFE COVERAGE

Optional coverage for your spouse who is younger than age 65: If you have basic life coverage, you may **choose** optional coverage in units of \$10,000 for your spouse, up to a maximum of \$500,000. If you are covered as both an employee and a spouse, you are still limited to the \$500,000 maximum.

To become covered for optional coverage, your spouse will be required to submit **evidence of insurability** satisfactory to Great-West Life if:

- (1) you enroll your spouse for the first time for optional coverage; or
- (2) you wish to change your spouse's coverage to a higher number of units.

Termination: The optional coverage for your spouse terminates on the earliest of: your attainment of age 65; your spouse's attainment of age 65; or, your retirement.

Optional coverage for each dependent child: \$25,000.

Termination: The optional coverage for each dependent child terminates on the earliest of: your attainment of age 65; or, your retirement.

COVERAGE FOR YOU AND YOUR QUALIFIED DEPENDENTS

GLOBAL MEDICAL ASSISTANCE COVERAGE

This coverage is described in detail on later pages.

Termination: At your retirement.

EMPLOYEE LIFE COVERAGE

FOR YOU

DEFINITIONS

Where used in this coverage, the following words and phrases have the meaning set forth below:

(1) Disability

You are considered disabled if disease or injury prevents you from being gainfully employed.

- (2) Gainful employment means work:
 - (a) you are medically able to perform;
 - (b) for which you have at least the minimum qualifications;
 - (c) that provides income of at least 50% of your indexed annual earnings; and
 - (d) that exists either in the province or territory where you worked when you became disabled or where you currently live.

The availability of work will not be considered in assessing disability.

(3) Indexed annual earnings are pre-disability earnings that have been adjusted to reflect changes in the Consumer Price Index.

A. DEATH BENEFIT

If you die while covered under this coverage, Great-West Life will pay the amount of your life coverage to your beneficiary determined according to the beneficiary rules shown on the General Information page. The amount of your life coverage is shown in the Summary of Coverages.

B. WAIVER OF PREMIUM BENEFIT

If you become disabled while covered under this coverage, Great-West Life will waive the premiums on your life coverage throughout the benefit period, subject to the notice of claim provision.

A waiver of premium disability period is:

- (1) the waiting period; plus
- (2) the benefit period.

The waiting period starts when you first become disabled and lasts, if disability is continuous, for 6 months.

If disability is not continuous, the days you are disabled will be accumulated to satisfy the waiting period as long as:

- (1) no interruption is longer than 2 weeks; and
- (2) the disabilities arise from the same disease or injury.

A benefit period is the period of time after the waiting period during which you are continuously disabled. A benefit period will not continue past your 65th birthday.

C. CONVERSION PRIVILEGE

You are entitled to obtain an individual life insurance policy without evidence of insurability if you meet the following conditions.

- (1) All or part of your life coverage terminates on or before your 65th birthday.
- (2) You must apply for the individual policy in writing and pay the first premium within 31 days after the coverage terminates.

The conversion privilege is not available if coverage terminates because of age.

The individual policy will be one of the standard life insurance conversion forms made available by Great-West Life or any of its affiliates. No disability or accidental death benefit will be offered.

The premium for the individual policy will be based on current individual insurance rates.

The amount of the individual policy will not exceed the lesser of:

- (1) the amount of terminated coverage less the amount of any group term life insurance for which you become eligible within the 31 days allowed for conversion; and
- (2) \$200,000.00.

This is the combined maximum that can be converted under all group life plans issued to the employer by Great-West Life.

You can convert less than the maximum individual policy amount but, if you do, you cannot convert an amount less than the minimum issued for the type of policy chosen.

The individual policy takes effect at the end of the 31 days allowed for conversion.

If you die within the 31 days allowed for conversion, the lesser of the following amounts is payable as if the death occurred while the coverage was still in force:

- (1) the total amount of terminated life coverage; and
- (2) \$200,000.

If you are approved for the waiver of premium benefit after you have been issued an individual life insurance conversion policy, the individual policy will be cancelled and the premiums paid on that policy refunded to you.

D. SUICIDE LIMITATION ON OPTIONAL COVERAGE

If you commit suicide within 2 years after any optional coverage on your life takes effect or increases, Great-West Life's liability for the portion of the optional coverage that has been in force for less than 2 years will be limited to the premiums paid for that coverage. All periods of coverage under this contract's optional life plan and previous optional life plans sponsored by the employer are considered together in satisfying the 2-year condition as long as there is no interruption from one to the other.

E. NOTICE OF CLAIM

Great-West Life will not be liable for waiver of premium claims for which initial notice of the qualifying disability is submitted more than 6 months after the earlier of:

- (1) the end of the period following the date you were last actively at work equal to the waiver of premium waiting period; and
- (2) the date this contract terminates.

A qualifying disability is one that satisfies the definition of disability.

F. PROOF OF CLAIM

Death benefits will be paid only after Great-West Life has received satisfactory proof that payment is due.

Waiver of premium benefits will only be approved for periods for which Great-West Life has received satisfactory proof that you are entitled to benefits.

You must provide information required to prove your entitlement to benefits and must also authorize Great-West Life to obtain information from other sources for this purpose. Whenever Great-West Life requests information or authorization, it must be submitted within 6 months. If it is not submitted within this time, Great-West Life will not be liable for any further benefits.

Great-West Life will give you a written notice of assessment on a waiver of premium claim showing:

- whether or not benefits have been approved;
- (2) whether or not further information is required; and
- (3) if benefits have not been approved, the reasons for denial and the procedures you may follow to appeal.

ACCIDENTAL DEATH AND DISMEMBERMENT COVERAGE

FOR YOU

DEFINITIONS

Where used in this coverage, the following words or phrases have the meanings set forth below:

- (1) "Principal sum" means the amount of accidental death and dismemberment coverage (shown in the Summary of Coverages) in effect at the time of the accident.
- (2) "Loss by dismemberment" means:
 - (a) for hands and feet, complete severance through or above the wrist or ankle joints;
 - (b) for arms and legs, complete severance through or above the elbow or knee joints;
 - (c) for thumb and big toe, complete severance of one entire phalange;
 - (d) for fingers and other toes, complete severance of 2 entire phalanges.
- (3) Loss of sight, speech or hearing means total and irrecoverable loss beyond correction by surgical or other means.
- (4) "Loss of use" means total and irrecoverable loss of the ability to perform every action the arm, leg, or hand was able to perform before the accident occurred, beyond correction by surgical or other means. No benefits will be paid for loss of use if benefits for loss by dismemberment of the same arm, leg, or hand are paid or payable as a result of the same accident.

A. ACCIDENTAL DEATH AND DISMEMBERMENT BENEFIT

If you are injured in an accident that occurs while you are covered and the injury results in a covered loss, Great-West Life will pay a lump sum to you or, in the case of your death, to your named beneficiary. If you have not named a beneficiary or there is no surviving beneficiary at the time of your death, payment will be made to your estate.

Any loss listed in the Table of Losses is considered a covered loss if:

- it occurs as a direct result of the injury, independent of all other causes;
- (2) it occurs within one year after the accident, and
- (3) in the case of loss of use, it is continuous for one year.

Great-West Life has full responsibility for the assessment of your entitlement to benefits.

B. BENEFIT AMOUNT PAYABLE

The amount payable is the principal sum or the portion or the factor or portion of the principal sum shown opposite the loss in the Table of Losses. If you have multiple losses to the same limb resulting from the same accident, only the loss providing the highest benefit amount will be paid. Not more than the principal sum is payable for all covered losses resulting from the same accident, with the following exception. For paraplegia, hemiplegia, and quadriplegia, the maximum amount payable for all covered losses resulting from the same accident is 2 times the principal sum.

An amount equal to 50% of the dismemberment benefit is payable if a dismembered part is surgically reattached, regardless of the use regained. The balance of the dismemberment benefit is payable if the reattachment fails and the reattached part is removed within one year after the reattachment was performed.

C. TABLE OF LOSSES

For loss of:	Amount payable
Life Both hands Both feet Sight of both eyes One hand and one foot One hand and sight of one eye One foot and sight of one eye Speech and hearing in both ears	the principal sum
One arm One leg	3/4 principal sum
One hand One foot Sight of one eye Speech Hearing in both ears	1/2 principal sum
Thumb and index finger Four fingers of one hand	1/4 principal sum
All toes of one foot	1/8 principal sum

For loss of use of: Amount payable

Both arms and both legs (quadriplegia)

Both legs (paraplegia)

One arm and one leg on the same side

of the body (hemiplegia)

the principal sum

2 X the principal sum

One arm and one leg on different sides

of the body Both arms Both hands

One hand and one leg

One arm 3/4 principal sum

One leg

One hand 1/2 principal sum

D. REPATRIATION BENEFIT

If benefits are payable under this coverage for loss of life which occurred at least 150 kilometres from your place of residence, Great-West Life will pay the actual expense incurred for preparation and transportation of your body to the place of burial or cremation. The amount payable is the actual expense incurred reduced by any amount paid for the same expenses under this plan's global medical assistance coverage. The maximum amount payable under this provision is \$2,500.

E. EDUCATIONAL BENEFIT FOR DEPENDENT CHILDREN

If benefits are payable under this benefit provision for loss of your life, Great-West Life will pay the tuition fees for enrolling your dependent children as full-time students at a post-secondary institution. To qualify for an educational benefit, a dependent child must satisfy one of the following conditions:

- (1) he or she must have been enrolled as a full-time student at a post-secondary institution at the time of the accident causing the loss of life; or
- (2) he or she must have been enrolled as a full-time student at the secondary school level at the time of the accident causing the loss of life and enrols as a full-time student at a post-secondary institution within 365 days after the accident.

The maximum amount payable under this provision for each year of full-time post-secondary school enrolment is the lesser of:

- (1) 5% of the principal sum; and
- (2) \$5,000.

Great-West Life will pay the educational benefit each year for a maximum of 4 consecutive years upon receipt of proof of full-time enrolment.

A child is considered a full-time student if he or she is in registered attendance for 15 hours a week or more.

A post-secondary institution means an accredited university, general and vocational school, trade school, community college, or private college that provides an education above the secondary school level.

No benefits will be paid for:

- (1) tuition expenses incurred before the accident.
- (2) room or board or other ordinary living, travelling, or clothing expenses.

F. FAMILY TRANSPORTATION BENEFIT

If you are hospitalized more than 150 kilometres from your home as a result of a covered loss for which benefits are payable under this benefit provision, Great-West Life will pay for transportation and lodging expenses for one family member to join you. The amount payable is the actual expense incurred reduced by any amount paid for the same expenses under this plan's global medical assistance coverage. The maximum amount payable under this provision is \$2,000.

Benefits for lodging are limited to moderate quality accommodation for the area of hospitalization. Telephone expenses and taxicab and car rental charges are included. Meal expenses are not covered.

Transportation expenses are limited to round trip economy class transportation. If a private vehicle is used, expenses are limited to \$0.44 per kilometre travelled.

G. OCCUPATIONAL TRAINING BENEFIT FOR SPOUSES

If benefits are payable under this benefit provision for loss of your life, Great-West Life will pay for expenses associated with your spouse's enrolment in an accredited occupational training program. The purpose of the training program must be to provide your spouse with at least the minimum qualifications required for employment in an occupation for which your spouse would not otherwise qualify. The maximum amount payable under this provision is the lesser of:

- (1) 10% of the principal sum; and
- (2) \$10,000.

No benefits will be paid for:

- (1) expenses incurred more than 3 years after the accident causing the loss of life.
- (2) room or board or other ordinary living, travelling, or clothing expenses.

H. EDUCATIONAL BENEFIT

If benefits are payable under this benefit provision for a loss that requires you to change occupations, Great-West Life will pay the tuition fees for enrolling you as a student at a post-secondary institution for training in a new occupation. To qualify for an educational benefit, you must enrol at a post-secondary institution within 365 days after the accident. The maximum amount payable under this provision is \$10,000.

A post-secondary institution means an accredited university, general and vocational school, trade school, community college, or private college that provides an education above the secondary school level.

No benefits will be paid for:

- (1) tuition expenses incurred before the accident.
- (2) expenses incurred more than 2 years after the accident causing the loss.
- (3) room or board or other ordinary living, travelling, or clothing expenses.

I. WHEELCHAIR BENEFIT

If benefits are payable under this benefit provision for a loss due to an injury that requires the use of a wheelchair for you to be ambulatory, Great-West Life will pay for expenses associated with:

- (1) alterations to your principal residence to make it wheelchair accessible and habitable; and
- (2) modifications to a motor vehicle used by you to make it accessible to and driveable by you.

Benefits for home alterations are payable only if the person or persons making the changes are:

- (1) experienced in home alterations for wheelchairs; and
- (2) recommended by an organization recognized for providing support and assistance to wheelchair users.

Benefits for vehicle modifications are payable only if:

- the person or persons making the changes are experienced in vehicle modification for wheelchairs; and
- (2) the modifications are approved by the provincial vehicle licensing authority.

The amount payable is the actual expense incurred reduced by any amount paid for the same expenses under this plan's health care coverage. The maximum amount payable under this provision for all home and vehicle modifications combined is \$10,000.

No benefits will be paid for:

- expenses incurred more than 365 days after the accident.
- (2) subsequent alterations to your home or vehicle after an initial claim for benefits has been made under this provision.

J. LOSSES NOT COVERED

No benefits will be paid for loss resulting from or associated with the following:

- (1) suicide while sane or insane;
- (2) intentionally self-inflicted injury while sane or insane;
- (3) viral or bacterial infections, except pyogenic infections occurring through the injury for which loss is being claimed;
- (4) disease or infirmity;
- (5) medical or surgical treatment, except surgical reattachment;
- (6) services, including part-time or temporary service, in the armed forces of any country;
- (7) war, insurrection, or voluntary participation in a riot;
- (8) air travel, ascent, or descent, except as a passenger in a licensed aircraft flown by a pilot certified to fly the aircraft. Under no circumstances will benefits be paid where the aircraft is owned, leased, or rented by the employer or where the person who suffers the loss is acting as a crew member.

K. TO WHOM PAYABLE

If you are injured in an accident that occurs while you are covered and the injury results in a covered loss, Great-West Life will pay a lump sum benefit to you or, in the case of death, to your beneficiary as determined under the beneficiary rules shown on the General Information page.

L. PROOF OF CLAIM

Written proof of the loss on which claim may be based must be given to Great-West Life not later than 15 months after the date of the loss.

DEPENDENTS LIFE COVERAGE

FOR YOUR QUALIFIED DEPENDENTS

A. DEATH BENEFIT

If a dependent dies while covered under this coverage, Great-West Life will pay the amount of his or her life coverage to you. The amount of his or her life coverage is shown in the Summary of Coverages.

B. WAIVER OF PREMIUM BENEFIT

During any period of disability for which you are entitled to a waiver of premium benefit under this contract's employee life coverage, Great-West Life will waive the premium on the life coverage for your dependents.

C. CONVERSION PRIVILEGE

Your spouse is entitled to obtain an individual life insurance policy without evidence of insurability if he or she meets the following conditions.

- (1) All or part of your spouse's life coverage terminates on or before his or her 65th birthday.
- (2) You or your spouse must apply for the individual policy in writing and pay the first premium within 31 days after the coverage terminates.

The conversion privilege is not available if coverage terminates because of age.

The conversion privilege is not available to a spouse for whom coverage terminates because:

- (1) he or she ceases to satisfy the spouse definition; or
- you choose to cover a different spouse.

The individual policy will be one of the standard life insurance conversion forms made available by Great-West Life or any of its affiliates. No disability or accidental death benefit will be offered.

The premium for the individual policy will be based on current individual insurance rates.

The amount of the individual policy will not exceed the lesser of:

- (1) the amount of terminated coverage less the amount of any group term life insurance for which your spouse becomes eligible within the 31 days allowed for conversion; and
- (2) \$200,000.00.

This is the combined maximum that can be converted under all group life plans issued to the employer by Great-West Life.

Your spouse can convert less than the maximum individual policy amount but, if he or she does, he or she cannot convert an amount less than the minimum issued for the type of policy chosen.

The individual policy takes effect at the end of the 31 days allowed for conversion.

If your spouse dies within the 31 days allowed for conversion, the lesser of the following amounts is payable as if the death occurred while the coverage was still in force:

- (1) the total amount of terminated life coverage; and
- (2) \$200,000.

If you are approved for this contract's waiver of premium benefit after your spouse has been issued an individual life insurance conversion policy, the individual policy will be cancelled and the premiums paid on that policy refunded to you.

D. SUICIDE LIMITATION ON OPTIONAL COVERAGE

If your spouse commits suicide within 2 years after any optional coverage on his or her life takes effect or increases, Great-West Life's liability for the portion of the optional coverage that has been in force for less than 2 years will be limited to the premiums paid for that coverage. All periods of coverage under this contract's optional life plan and previous optional life plans sponsored by the employer are considered together in satisfying the 2-year condition as long as there is no interruption from one to the other.

E. PROOF OF CLAIM

Death benefits will be paid only after Great-West Life has received satisfactory proof that payment is due.

You must provide information required to prove your entitlement to benefits and must also authorize Great-West Life to obtain information from other sources for this purpose.

GLOBAL MEDICAL ASSISTANCE COVERAGE

FOR YOU AND YOUR QUALIFIED DEPENDENTS

COVERAGE

Global medical assistance is covered if:

- (1) it is required as a result of a medical emergency arising while the covered person is travelling for vacation or business, or is travelling to or from an educational facility; and
- (2) the covered person is covered by the government health plan in that person's home province.

Coverage for travel within Canada is limited to emergencies arising more than 500 kilometres from the covered person's home.

Assistance is provided through a worldwide communications network that operates 24 hours a day. The network assists in locating medical care and obtaining Great-West Life's prior approval of covered services. The network can also approve on-site hospital payment when required for admission, to a maximum of \$1,000.

A. COVERED SERVICES

The following services are covered subject to Great-West Life's prior approval:

(1) Medical evacuation

Medical evacuation is covered if suitable local care is not available. If the covered person is travelling within Canada, coverage is provided for transportation to the nearest hospital where treatment is available. If the covered person is travelling outside Canada, coverage is provided for transportation to:

- (a) the nearest hospital outside Canada where treatment is available; or,
- (b) a hospital in Canada.

When services are covered under this coverage they are not covered under other coverages in this plan.

(2) Family assistance

Round trip economy class transportation and lodging are covered for one family member joining a covered person who will be hospitalized for more than 7 days while travelling provided that there was no family member travelling with the covered person.

(3) Travelling companion

Extra lodging costs are covered for one travelling companion when the return trip for the covered person and travelling companion is delayed because the covered person is hospitalized. No benefits are payable for extra lodging costs for a travelling companion if family assistance benefits are claimed under (2) for the same period of confinement.

(4) Transportation reimbursement

The cost of comparable return transportation home for a covered person and one travelling companion is covered if prearranged, prepaid return transportation is missed because the covered person is hospitalized. Any amount for which other compensation is available is not covered. A rental vehicle is not considered prearranged, prepaid return transportation.

(5) **Death**

In case of death, preparation of the covered person's body and its return transportation home are covered.

(6) Unaccompanied minor children

Return transportation home is covered for minor children who had travelled with the covered person and who are left unaccompanied because of the covered person's hospitalization or death. Return or round trip transportation for an escort for the children is also covered when considered necessary.

(7) Vehicle return

The cost of returning a covered person's vehicle, whether private or rental, home or to the nearest appropriate vehicle rental agency is covered when sickness or injury prevents the covered person from driving. The maximum amount payable is \$1,000. No benefits will be paid for vehicle return if transportation reimbursement benefits are claimed under (4) for the same period of confinement.

B. REFUND OF ON-SITE HOSPITAL PAYMENTS

Where on-site hospital payments exceed Great-West Life's liability for that confinement under this group benefit plan, the covered person must refund the excess to Great-West Life. If the hospital confinement is not covered in this group benefit plan, Great-West Life is entitled to a full refund of the amount advanced.

C. LODGING LIMITATION

Benefits for lodging are limited to moderate quality accommodation for the area of hospitalization. Telephone expenses as well as taxicab and car rental charges are included. Meal expenses are not covered. The maximum amount payable for lodging expenses is \$1,500 per confinement.

D. DISCLAIMER

Neither the communication network nor Great-West Life is responsible for:

- the availability, quantity, quality, or results of any medical treatment a person receives;
 or
- (2) any unsuccessful attempts by a person to obtain medical services.

E. IDENTIFICATION CARDS

If a covered person's coverage terminates for any reason, the employer is responsible for immediate recall of the global medical assistance identification cards.

F. LIMITATIONS

No benefits will be paid for:

- (1) expenses that private insurers are not permitted to cover by law.
- (2) services the person is entitled to without charge by law or for which a charge is made only because the person has insurance coverage.
- (3) expenses arising from war, insurrection, or voluntary participation in a riot.

G. EXTENSION OF BENEFITS

If the coverage of a covered person terminates for any reason and if the covered person is disabled on the date of termination, benefit payments for the expenses incurred as a result of that sickness will continue during the disability as if such coverage had continued. Benefits will continue for a period of 90 days or, if earlier, to the date the individual becomes covered under any other group plan, whether issued by Great-West Life or another company.

"Disabled" and "disability" means that the covered person, if an employee, is prevented solely because of sickness from engaging in any work for compensation or profit, or, if a dependent, is prevented solely because of sickness from engaging in all of the normal activities of a person of like age and sex, and who is in good health.

PART II. ASO COVERAGES

The Short Term Disability Coverage, Extended Health Care Coverage and Dental Care Coverage described in this part of the group benefit plan are **administered** on behalf of the Contractholder by Great-West Life pursuant to **Administrative Services Agreement (ASO) No. 57030** between the Contractholder and Great-West Life. **These coverages are not insured by Great-West Life.** Because these coverages are not insured, they are not protected by Assuris.

SUMMARY OF COVERAGES

COVERAGES FOR YOU

SHORT TERM DISABILITY COVERAGE

Weekly benefit: An amount equal to 66.67% of your weekly earnings, up to a maximum of \$250. All weekly benefits that are not even dollar amounts are rounded to the next higher dollar.

Waiting period:

- (1) For accidental injury benefits are payable immediately. There is no waiting period for disability due to accidental injury.
- (2) For disease benefits are payable after a waiting period of 7 consecutive days for disability due to disease.

If you are hospitalized for at least 24 hours or have day surgery during the waiting period, it will be waived from the first day of confinement or the date of surgery.

Benefit period: Benefits are payable for a maximum of 26 weeks for any one period of disability.

Tax status: Since you do not pay the entire cost of this coverage, your short term disability benefits are taxable.

Termination: At your retirement.

COVERAGES FOR YOU AND YOUR QUALIFIED DEPENDENTS

EXTENDED HEALTH CARE COVERAGE

Covered percentage: 100% of eligible charges.

Deductible: \$25 per covered person or covered family.

Overall lifetime maximum: Unlimited.

Termination: At your retirement.

Benefits provided

(The complete list is shown on later

pages.)

Hospital Semi-private room daily rate (not

subject to the deductible).

(per covered person)

Maximum amount payable

Out-patient hospital Reasonable and customary charges.

Convalescent hospital Semi-private room daily rate (not

subject to the deductible).

Chronic care hospital or chronic care

wing of a public general hospital

\$25 per day, up to 120 days for any one disability (not subject to the

deductible).

Expenses incurred while out of province or Canada, as follows:

Treatment of a medical emergency

Specialized treatment not available in

province or Canada

A lifetime maximum of \$2,000,000.

A lifetime maximum of \$200,000.

Drugs legally requiring a prescription

Psychologist \$300 in a calendar year.

Psychiatrist (if not reimbursed by a

provincial plan)

\$250 in a calendar year.

Chiropractor, naturopath, osteopath,

podiatrist, or chiropodist

\$300 per practitioner in a calendar

year.

Massage therapist \$300 in a calendar year.

Private duty nursing in the home \$10,000 in a calendar year.

Physiotherapist Reasonable and customary charges.

Speech therapist \$300 in a calendar year.

Custom-made orthopedic shoes One pair in a calendar year.

Hearing aids \$400 every 5 years.

Lenses required as a result of cataract

surgery

\$200 per surgery.

Eye examinations Once every 2 calendar years (once

every calendar year for dependent children younger than age 18). Not

subject to the deductible.

325299-B3

Vision care \$300 every 24 months for eyeglass

lenses and frames, contact lenses, dispensing fees, and diagnosis and treatment of accidental injury or

disease of the eyes. Not subject to the

deductible.

Visual training and remedial therapy Included under the maximum amount

payable shown under vision care above. Not subject to the deductible.

Diabetic monitoring and administration

equipment

\$1,000 lifetime.

Apnea monitors for respiratory

dysrhythmia

Reasonable and customary charges.

Orthotics \$200 in a calendar year.

Support hose Two pairs in a calendar year.

Artificial limbs, including repair and replacement (but excluding myoelectrical

limbs)

\$2,000 in a calendar year for repair

and replacement.

Traction apparatus Reasonable and customary charges.

External breast prostheses following a

mastectomy

One in a calendar year.

Standard or electric (where a standard is

not suitable) wheelchair

\$4,000 lifetime.

Bed rail Reasonable and customary charges.

Trapeze bar Reasonable and customary charges.

Transcutaneous nerve stimulator \$1,000 lifetime.

Sphygmomanometers \$200 lifetime.

DENTAL CARE COVERAGE

BASIC AND MAJOR SERVICES are shown in the List of Dental Services.

Covered percentage: Basic services – 100% of eligible charges.

Major services – 60% of eligible charges.

Deductible: \$25 per covered person or \$50 per covered family (maximum of \$25 per

covered person).

Fee guide: The dental association fee guide for general practitioners in the covered person's

province of residence, the guide in effect on the date the service is rendered.

Maximum: \$1,500 per covered person in a calendar year.

Termination: At your retirement.

ORTHODONTIC SERVICES

Each dependent child who is younger than age 18 on the date the orthodontic procedure commences will be eligible.

Covered percentage: 50% of eligible charges. **Lifetime maximum:** \$1,250 per covered person.

Termination: At your retirement.

SHORT TERM DISABILITY COVERAGE

FOR YOU

A. ASSESSMENT RESPONSIBILITY

Great-West Life has full responsibility for the assessment of your entitlement to benefits.

B. DISABILITY

Short term disability income benefits under the contract are for disability periods that start while you are covered.

Disability is assessed on the basis of the duties you regularly performed for the employer before disability started. You are considered disabled if, because of disease or injury, there is no combination of duties you can perform that regularly took at least 60% of your time at work to complete.

If disease or injury prevents you from performing a duty, it will also be considered to prevent you from performing:

- (1) others that are performed only in order to complete that duty; and
- (2) others that can only be performed after that duty is completed.

C. DISABILITY PERIOD

A disability period is:

- (1) the waiting period; plus
- (2) the benefit period.

D. WAITING PERIOD

The waiting period starts when you first become disabled and lasts for the number of days shown in the Summary of Coverages.

A disability is considered to be caused by accidental injury only when:

- (1) it occurs as a direct result of an accident, independent of all other causes; and
- (2) it occurs within 30 days after the accident.

Otherwise, the disability is considered to be caused by disease.

E. BENEFIT PERIOD

A benefit period is:

- the period of time after the waiting period during which you are continuously disabled; plus
- (2) if the disability is not continuous, any period of time during which the disability is considered to be a recurrence.

A benefit period will not continue past the number of weeks shown in the Summary of Coverages.

F. RECURRENCE

After the waiting period, a disability is considered a recurrence if it arises from the same disease or injury and starts before you have completed 2 weeks of continuous reemployment at the same number of hours per week as you regularly worked for the employer before the disability started.

G. INCOME BENEFITS

You are entitled to income benefits after the waiting period ends and for as long as the benefit period lasts. No income benefits are payable for the waiting period itself.

Amount payable:

The amount payable is the weekly benefit shown in the Summary of Coverages in effect at the start of the disability period, less the reductions, if any, required under the offset and rehabilitation incentive provisions. All weekly benefits that are not even dollar amounts are rounded to the next higher dollar.

The weekly benefit is payable to you weekly in arrears. One seventh of the weekly benefit is payable for each day of any period less than a full week. Payments do not begin until you are actually absent from work.

The income used in the offset and rehabilitation incentive provisions is the income payable for the same period as the weekly benefit under the contract.

All income is considered payable when you are entitled to it, whether or not it has been awarded or received. If it has not been awarded, Great-West Life will have the right to estimate it according to the terms of any plans or legislation involved. If income is payable in a lump sum, the amount used will be the portion payable for loss of income during the benefit period.

Before the amount payable is calculated under a non-taxable plan, taxable income will be reduced by multiplying it by the ratio of take-home pay to weekly earnings. This does not apply to Canada or Quebec Pension Plan benefits.

Weekly earnings are 1/52 of annual earnings.

"Take-home pay" means your weekly earnings less deductions for federal and provincial income taxes, Canada and Quebec Pension Plan contributions, and federal Employment Insurance premiums. The deductions are the amounts the employer would be required to withhold from your weekly earnings assuming:

- your taxable income equals 52 times your weekly earnings;
- (2) your deductions equal those shown for your income level in the payroll deduction tables produced by Canada Revenue Agency and equivalent provincial tables; and
- (3) deductions for taxes reflect the benefit of personal tax credits, Canada and Quebec Pension Plan tax credits and federal Employment Insurance tax credits.

Where your income level exceeds the maximum for Canada or Quebec Pension Plan deductions or federal Employment Insurance deductions, the Canada or Quebec Pension Plan contributions and federal Employment Insurance premiums used will be your annualized deductions divided by 52.

The tables and tax credits used are those in effect the day before the disability started.

Offset provision:

Your weekly benefit is reduced by the following income:

- (1) Disability benefits to which you are entitled on your own behalf under:
 - (a) the Canada Pension Plan;
 - (b) the Quebec Pension Plan; or
 - (c) a plan in another country for which there is a reciprocal agreement with the Canada or Quebec Pension Plan;

except for increases that take effect after the benefit period starts.

- (2) Benefits under any Workers' Compensation Act or similar law except for:
 - (a) permanent partial disability awards that were payable for each of the 12 months before a disability period; and
 - (b) benefits related to employment with another employer.
- (3) Loss of income benefits under a legislated automobile insurance plan, to the extent permitted by law.

Rehabilitation incentive provision:

Earnings received from an approved rehabilitation plan are not used to reduce your weekly benefit unless those earnings, your income from the contract, and the income described under the offset provision would exceed:

- (1) for taxable plans, 100% of your weekly earnings; and
- (2) for non-taxable plans, 100% of your take-home pay.

If it does, your weekly benefit is reduced by the amount in excess of 100%.

H. VOCATIONAL REHABILITATION BENEFITS

Vocational rehabilitation involves a training strategy or work related activity that:

- is designed to facilitate a disabled person's return to his or her job or other gainful employment; and
- (2) is recommended or approved by Great-West Life.

In considering whether or not a rehabilitation proposal is appropriate, Great-West Life will assess such factors as the expected duration of disability, and the level of activity required to facilitate the earliest possible return to employment.

To be classified as a "rehabilitation plan", the goal must be:

- to return the person to work in the same job;
- (2) to return the person to work in a modified job with the same employer; or
- (3) to return the person to work in a different job that capitalizes on transferable skills.

Participation commitment:

If you do not participate or cooperate in a rehabilitation plan that has been recommended or approved by Great-West Life, you will no longer be entitled to income benefits.

Employment income:

Employment income earned during a rehabilitation period will be considered under the rehabilitation incentive provision.

Expense benefit:

Great-West Life will pay for reasonable expenses, other than usual employment expenses, associated with a rehabilitation plan.

The maximum expense benefit during a disability period will be 13 times your weekly benefit before reduction by other income.

Expenses claimed under this provision must be pre-authorized by Great-West Life.

Limitation:

Vocational rehabilitation benefits are only available while you are entitled to income benefits.

I. MEDICAL COORDINATION BENEFITS

Medical coordination is a care coordination process that:

- (1) is designed to provide cost effective, quality care; and
- (2) is recommended or approved by Great-West Life.

In considering whether or not a medical coordination program is appropriate, Great-West Life will assess such factors as the expected duration of disability, and the level of activity required to facilitate medical stability.

Great-West Life covers the following services, when considered appropriate:

- (1) initial diagnosis and treatment program assessment.
- (2) consultation with the disabled person, members of the person's family, and the attending physician to gain further understanding of the treatment program and its goals.
- (3) comparison of the person's current treatment program with generally accepted treatment standards for similar conditions and, where suitable, follow up identified alternatives with the attending physician.
- (4) referral to a physician specialist contracted with the medical coordination network for diagnostic assessment.
- (5) monitoring and coordination of care throughout the disability period to determine treatment plan updates to meet employee health care needs.
- (6) referral to professionals or facilities outside the medical coordination network for diagnosis or treatment. Services provided by these outside sources are covered only to the extent that benefits may be payable under the expense benefit provision.

Participation commitment:

If you do not participate or cooperate in a medical coordination program that has been recommended or approved by Great-West Life, you will no longer be entitled to income benefits.

Expense benefit:

Great-West Life will pay for reasonable expenses associated with medical rehabilitation services and facilities.

The maximum expense benefit during a disability period will be 13 times your weekly benefit before reduction by other income.

Expenses claimed under this provision must be pre-authorized by Great-West Life.

No benefits will be paid for any portion of the expense for which benefits are payable under a government plan.

Limitations:

Medical coordination benefits are only available while you are entitled to income benefits. Great-West Life will not cover medical coordination services after you have returned to work, unless you are receiving vocational rehabilitation benefits.

J. GENERAL LIMITATIONS

No benefits will be paid for:

(1) any period preceding the date you are first treated by a physician or in which you do not participate or cooperate in a reasonable and customary treatment program.

A reasonable and customary treatment program is systematic treatment that:

- (a) is performed or prescribed by a physician; and
- (b) is of the nature and frequency usually required for the condition involved.

Where considered appropriate by Great-West Life for the severity of the condition, the treatment must be prescribed by and, if appropriate, performed or supervised by a certified specialist for the condition involved.

If substance abuse contributes to a person's disability, the treatment program must include participation in a recognized substance withdrawal program.

- (2) any period after you fail to participate or cooperate in a rehabilitation plan that has been recommended or approved by Great-West Life.
- (3) any period after you fail to participate or cooperate in a medical coordination program that has been recommended or approved by Great-West Life.
- (4) the scheduled duration of a lay-off, unless you become disabled:
 - (a) before notice of lay-off; or
 - (b) more than 2 months before the lay-off is scheduled to start, whether or not notice of lay-off has been given.
- (5) the scheduled duration of a leave of absence. A leave of absence is considered to start on the date agreed upon by you and the employer.

This exclusion does not apply to any portion of a period of maternity leave during which the person is disabled as a result of pregnancy. If a child is born before a period of maternity leave is scheduled to start, the leave is considered to start on the date of birth.

- (6) any period of employment, except in an approved rehabilitation plan or program.
- (7) disability resulting from or associated with treatment performed for cosmetic purposes only.
- (8) a period of confinement in a prison or similar institution.
- (9) disability arising from war, insurrection or voluntary participation in a riot.

K. NOTICE AND PROOF OF CLAIM

To permit prompt assessment, initial notice of claim should be submitted to Great-West Life no later than 10 days after disability starts.

Great-West Life will not be liable for claims for which initial notice is submitted more than 3 months after the earlier of:

- (1) the end of the waiting period; and
- (2) the date the contract terminates.

Benefits will only be payable for periods for which Great-West Life has received satisfactory proof that you are entitled to benefits.

You must provide information required to prove your entitlement to benefits and must also authorize Great-West Life to obtain information from other sources for this purpose.

Whenever Great-West Life requests information or authorization, it must be submitted within 3 months. If it is not submitted within this time, Great-West Life will not be liable for any further benefits.

Great-West Life will give you a written notice of assessment showing:

- (1) whether or not benefits have been approved;
- (2) whether or not further information is required; and
- (3) if benefits have not been approved, the reasons for denial and the procedures you may follow to appeal.

Proof satisfactory to Great-West Life may be required to verify statements made to establish insurability.

Great-West Life, at its discretion and to the extent permitted by law, may pay another person on your behalf.

L. SUBROGATION AND RIGHT OF RECOVERY

Where permitted by law, Great-West Life has full rights of subrogation with respect to damages for loss of income when responsibility for your disability may be attributable to another party. Great-West Life also has the right to recover from you any benefits paid under the contract for loss of income for which you have been indemnified by the other party. However, Great-West Life has no obligation under the contract to exercise its rights of recovery and subrogation.

EXTENDED HEALTH CARE COVERAGE

FOR YOU AND YOUR QUALIFIED DEPENDENTS

DEFINITIONS

Where used in this coverage, the following words or phrases have the meanings set forth below:

- (1) "Convalescent or rehabilitation hospital" means an institution that is legally operated, is supervised by a staff of physicians, has registered nurses (R.N.) in attendance 24 hours a day, provides room and board and skilled nursing care of sick or injured persons during the convalescent stage of a sickness or injury, and which is not, other than incidentally, a nursing home or a facility for rest or for the aged. Additionally, it must be approved for resident inpatient care under a provincial hospital services program and eligible to receive payments under, and in accordance with, the provincial hospital services plan.
- (2) "Eligible charges" means the reasonable and customary charges actually made to the covered person for the medical services and supplies described in section B., provided the services and supplies are medically necessary for the care and treatment of a covered person's sickness, injury or condition and are ordered by a physician unless otherwise stated, and the charges:
 - (a) exceed the amount payable under any government medical, health or hospital services plan or, if the person is not covered under such a plan, exceed the amount that would have been payable by the plan of the province or territory in which the covered person resides;
 - (b) exceed the amount payable under any other coverage of the contract, any Workers' Compensation Act or similar law, or any other source, other than an individual policy issued by another company; and
 - (c) are those for which Great-West Life is not prohibited by law from providing.
- (3) "Hospital" means an institution that is legally operated, is supervised by a staff of physicians, has registered nurses (R.N.) in attendance 24 hours a day, provides a broad range of 24-hours-a-day medical and surgical services for sick and injured persons, and which is not, other than incidentally, a nursing home or a facility for rest or for the aged.
- (4) "Medical emergency" means an unforeseen event occurring while a covered person is travelling which causes that person injury or sickness. Such travel must be for the purpose of business or pleasure and not in any way for the purpose of obtaining hospital or medical treatment.

- (5) "Medically necessary" means the service or supply is ordered by a physician and is commonly and customarily recognized throughout the physician's profession as appropriate in the treatment of the patient's diagnosed sickness, injury or condition. The service or supply must not be educational, experimental or investigational in nature, nor provided primarily for the purpose of medical or other research.
 - In the case of a hospital confinement, the duration and the services and supplies will be considered necessary only to the extent Great-West Life determines them to be:
 - (a) related to the treatment of the sickness or injury; and
 - (b) not allocable to the scholastic education or vocational training of the patient.
- (6) "Physician" means a duly licensed doctor of medicine (M.D.). "Physician" also means a duly licensed dentist, podiatrist, chiropodist, chiropractor, osteopath, naturopath or psychologist, practising within the scope of his or her profession who is licensed by the licensing and registration authority in the jurisdiction where the service is rendered.
- (7) "Reasonable and customary charge" means the usual charge of the provider for the service or supply, in the absence of coverage, but not more than the prevailing charge in the area for a like service or supply. A like service or supply is one of the same nature and duration, requires the same skill, and is performed by a provider of similar training and experience.

A. PAYMENT OF BENEFITS

After satisfaction of the deductible (shown in the Summary of Coverages), a benefit will be paid if a covered person incurs eligible charges in connection with the services and supplies described in section B. while covered under this coverage. A charge is considered to be incurred on the date of the service or purchase for which the charge is made.

For all eligible charges, benefits will be equal to the covered percentage (shown in the Summary of Coverages) once the deductible has been satisfied each calendar year.

B. ELIGIBLE CHARGES

Eligible charges are the reasonable and customary charges actually made to the covered person for the following medically necessary services and supplies:

(1) Hospital

Charges for room and board in a hospital in Canada, up to the maximum amount payable shown in the Summary of Coverages.

(2) Out-patient hospital

Charges for services and supplies while the covered person is not confined in a hospital, up to the maximum amount payable shown in the Summary of Coverages.

(3) Convalescent hospital

Charges for room and board in a convalescent hospital in Canada up to the maximum amount payable shown in the Summary of Coverages.

The confinement must be ordered by a physician as necessary for recuperative care or rehabilitative treatment and the covered person must be admitted within 14 days following a period as an inpatient in a hospital.

Excluding

Charges which are primarily for custodial care such as chronic care facilities and nursing homes.

(4) Chronic care hospital or chronic care wing of a public general hospital

Charges for room and board in a chronic care hospital or chronic care wing of a public general hospital, up to the maximum amount payable shown in the Summary of Coverages.

(5) Expenses incurred while out of province of residence or Canada

Charges for expenses incurred while out of the covered person's province of residence or Canada will be eligible provided the expense is recommended by a physician on account of:

- (a) treatment of a medical emergency while travelling outside the covered person's province of residence or Canada; or
- (b) specialized treatment not available in the covered person's province of residence or Canada when the covered person is referred outside his or her province of residence or Canada by his or her regularly attending physician.

The eligible charges will be equivalent to the charges actually made to the covered person minus any charge covered by any government plan up to the maximum amount payable shown in the Summary of Coverages.

Eligible expenses include:

- (a) public ward accommodation and other services and supplies furnished by the hospital;
- (b) services of a physician;
- (c) emergency outpatient services;
- (d) drugs and medicines which by law may only be dispensed upon the prescription of a doctor of medicine (M.D.) or other person entitled by law to prescribe them; and
- (e) any other medically necessary services and supplies which would otherwise be covered under this coverage.

(6) Drugs and medicines

- (a) Drugs and medicines which by law can only be issued upon the prescription of a doctor of medicine (M.D.) or other person entitled by law to prescribe them, and which are dispensed by a licensed pharmacist.
- (b) Insulin.
- (c) Oral contraceptive pills.
- (d) Allergy serums.
- (e) Hydroquinidine, quinidine, erythrol tetranitrate, isosorbide dinitrate and nitroglycerin.
- (f) Vaccinations and immunizations for the preventive treatment of communicable diseases.

The requirement that the service or supply is necessary on account of the covered person's sickness, injury or condition does not apply to (c) above.

Excluding

- (a) Vitamins, minerals, dietary supplements and foods.
- (b) Dietetic and anti-smoking drugs and medicines.
- (c) Fertility drugs.
- (d) Drugs used to treat erectile dysfunction.
- (e) Any portion of drugs or medicines which the covered person is entitled to receive, or for which the covered person is entitled to a benefit or reimbursement, by law or under a plan that is legislated, funded, or administered in whole or in part by a government ("government plan"), without regard to whether coverage would have otherwise been available under this plan. In this exclusion, government plan does not include a group plan for government employees.
- (7) **Ambulance service** or any form of emergency transportation to and from the nearest medical facility equipped to provide adequate treatment.
- (8) Services of a dentist for dental treatment of injuries to sound, vital, natural teeth (including capped or crowned teeth) when caused by a direct accidental blow to the mouth occurring while a covered person (but not when caused by an object wittingly or unwittingly placed in the mouth), provided the charges are incurred within one year of the accident. Fractured jaws are also covered.
- (9) Services of a **psychologist** in connection with the diagnosis and treatment of mental, nervous or emotional disorders, up to the maximum amount payable shown in the Summary of Coverages.
- (10) Services of a **psychiatrist** (if not reimbursed by a provincial plan), up to the maximum amount payable shown in the Summary of Coverages.

- (11) Services of a **chiropractor**, **naturopath**, **osteopath**, **podiatrist**, or **chiropodist**, including one X-ray examination per specialty, up to the maximum amount payable shown in the Summary of Coverages. (The amount payable will be limited to one specialty per practitioner per day.)
- (12) Treatment by a registered **massage therapist** when the person is referred by a duly licensed doctor of medicine (M.D.), up to the maximum amount payable shown in the Summary of Coverages.
- (13) **Private duty professional nursing services in the home** by a registered graduate nurse, a registered nursing assistant, a registered practical nurse, or similarly licensed person, other than a close relative, provided (a) the service is prescribed by a duly licensed doctor of medicine (M.D.), and (b) intensive care nursing is required in the treatment of an acute sickness; up to the maximum amount payable shown in the Summary of Coverages.

Exclusion

Benefits will not be payable when the services actually furnished:

- (a) are mainly custodial;
- (b) are mainly to assist the covered person with the functions of daily living or to dispense oral medication; or
- (c) could be furnished properly by someone who does not have the professional qualifications stated above.
- (14) Treatment by a **physiotherapist**, or **speech therapist** up to the maximum amount payable shown in the Summary of Coverages.
- (15) **Custom-made orthopedic shoes** and modifications to such shoes, up to the maximum amount payable shown in the Summary of Coverages.
- (16) Purchase, repair or replacement of **hearing aids**, up to the maximum amount payable shown in the Summary of Coverages.
- (17) **Lenses required as a result of cataract surgery**, up to the maximum amount payable shown in the Summary of Coverages.
- (18) **Eye examinations** by an optometrist or ophthalmologist up to the maximum amount payable shown in the Summary of Coverages.
- (19) **Vision care:** eyeglass frames and lenses, contact lenses, dispensing fees, and diagnosis and treatment of accidental injury or disease of the eyes, up to the maximum amount payable shown in the Summary of Coverages.

Excluding

- (a) Sunglasses, whether prescription or not, safety glasses or tinted lenses provided for aesthetic or cosmetic purposes.
- (b) Services or supplies not reasonably necessary for the vision care of the covered person.
- (20) **Visual training and remedial therapy**, up to the maximum amount payable shown in the Summary of Coverages.

(21) Intra-uterine devices inserted by a physician.

The requirement that the service or supply is necessary on account of sickness of a covered person does not apply to this item.

(22) Other services and supplies:

X-ray examinations and therapy and diagnostic laboratory procedures.

Colostomy and ileostomy apparatus and supplies.

Diabetic supplies: rubbing alcohol, cotton swabs, syringes, needles, clinitest, dextrose sticks or similar home chemical testing supplies, lancets.

Diabetic monitoring and administration equipment, up to the maximum amount payable shown in the Summary of Coverages.

Blood and blood plasma not replaced by or for the patient.

Oxygen and rental of equipment for its administration.

Artificial limbs, including repair and replacement, up to the maximum amount payable shown in the Summary of Coverages.

Artificial larynx and eyes.

Electronic heart pacemaker.

Casts, splints, trusses, braces, crutches, surgical dressings.

Apnea monitors for respiratory dysrhythmia, up to the maximum amount payable shown in the Summary of Coverages.

Orthotics up to the maximum amount payable shown in the Summary of Coverages.

Support hose, up to the maximum amount payable shown in the Summary of Coverages.

Rental of a hospital bed or iron lung.

Traction apparatus, up to the maximum amount payable shown in the Summary of Coverages.

Purchase of a standard or electric (where a standard is not suitable) wheelchair, up to the maximum amount payable shown in the Summary of Coverages.

External breast prostheses following a mastectomy, up to the maximum amount payable shown in the Summary of Coverages.

Bed rail, up to the maximum amount payable shown in the Summary of Coverages.

Trapeze bar, up to the maximum amount payable shown in the Summary of Coverages.

Transcutaneous nerve stimulator, up to the maximum amount payable shown in the Summary of Coverages.

Sphygmomanometers, up to the maximum amount payable shown in the Summary of Coverages.

Canes, walkers, Jobst burn garments, Jobst sleeves for lymphoedema following mastectomy, stump socks, cervical collar, shoulder harness, head halter.

Intermittent positive pressure breathing machine, aerosol equipment, mist tents, nebulizers (excluding air purifiers, humidifiers and vaporizers) for cystic fibrosis, acute emphysema, chronic obstructive bronchitis or chronic asthma.

C. OVERALL LIFETIME MAXIMUM

Benefits payable are subject to the overall lifetime maximum (shown in the Summary of Coverages) per covered person.

D. EXCLUSIONS

- (1) Any charges incurred in connection with:
 - (a) Commission of, or attempt to commit, any criminal offence but not when injuries are sustained as a result of driving a vehicle when the covered person's blood contained more than 80 milligrams of alcohol in 100 millilitres of blood (.08).
 - (b) Intentionally self-inflicted injuries.
 - (c) Sickness due to war or any act of war, civil commotion, insurrection or hostilities of any kind.
 - (d) Rest cures, travel for health reasons, periodic checkups and examinations, or pregnancy tests.
 - (e) Telephone consultations made by a physician with respect to a person's sickness or injury.
- (2) Any charges incurred for:
 - (a) Services or supplies dispensed by a person who normally resides with the covered person or who is related to the covered person by blood or marriage.
 - (b) Physicians' services or X-ray examinations involving one or more teeth, the tissue or structure around them, the alveolar process or the gums. This applies even if a condition requiring any of these services involves a part of the body other than the mouth such as the treatment of temporomandibular joint dysfunctions (TMJD) or malocclusion involving joints or muscles by methods, including, but not limited to, crowning, wiring or repositioning teeth. This does not apply to a charge made for dental treatment described in section B.
 - (c) Services or supplies to the extent that they are available under any government medical, health or hospital services plan or where such a plan prohibits payment.
 - (d) Services or supplies for which the covered person is not required to make payment, or where payment is received as a result of legal action or settlement.
 - (e) Services or supplies to the extent that they are payable or would have been payable under any Workers' Compensation Act or similar law, had timely pursuit been made.
 - (f) Services or supplies to the extent that such services or benefits for such services are available under any plan or program established pursuant to the laws or regulations of any government, including any motor vehicle no fault coverage required by statute.

E. EXTENSION OF BENEFITS

If the coverage of a covered person terminates for any reason and if the covered person is disabled on the date of termination, benefit payments for the expenses incurred as a result of that sickness will continue during the disability as if such coverage had continued. Benefits will continue for a period of 90 days or, if earlier, to the date the individual becomes covered under any other group plan, whether issued by Great-West Life or another company.

"Disabled" and "disability" means that the covered person, if an employee, is prevented solely because of sickness from engaging in any work for compensation or profit, or, if a dependent, is prevented solely because of sickness from engaging in all of the normal activities of a person of like age and sex, and who is in good health.

F. PROOF OF CLAIM

Written proof of the loss on which a claim may be based must be given to Great-West Life within 15 months of the date the expense was incurred.

DENTAL CARE COVERAGE

FOR YOU AND YOUR QUALIFIED DEPENDENTS

DEFINITIONS

Where used in this coverage, the following words or phrases have the meanings set forth below:

- (1) "Dentist" means a duly licensed dentist practising within the scope of his or her profession and any other licensed, certified and/or registered dental auxiliary personnel.
- "Eligible charges" means the charges actually made to the covered person for services which are included for payment in the List of Dental Services described in the following pages, and which are reasonable, necessary and customary for good dental care and are performed or recommended by a dentist, performed by a dental hygienist entitled by law to practise independently, or performed by a denturist; to the extent that the charges:
 - (a) do not exceed the amount specified in the fee guide shown in the Summary of Coverages;
 - (b) are not provided by any law or governmental program under which the individual is or could be covered; and
 - (c) exceed the amount payable under any other coverage of the contract, any Workers' Compensation Act or similar law, or any other source.

When 2 or more covered dental procedures are separately suitable for the dental care of a specific condition, and both are consistent with good dental care, the contract will provide benefits for the least expensive service.

When a charge is made for an unlisted service furnished for the dental care of a specific condition and the list contains one or more services which, under standard practices, are separately suitable for the dental care of that condition, the contract will provide benefits for the least expensive service.

Where a covered dental expense does not appear in the prevailing fee guide, the amount of the eligible charge for such procedure will be determined by Great-West Life on a reasonable and customary basis.

Denturist fee guides are applicable when services are provided by a denturist. Dental hygienist fee guides are applicable when services are provided by a dental hygienist practising independently.

(3) "Orthodontic procedure" means the movement of teeth by means of active appliances to correct the position of maloccluded or malpositioned teeth.

- (4) "Orthodontic treatment plan" means a dentist's report, on a form satisfactory to Great-West Life, which:
 - (a) describes the recommended treatment for orthodontic procedures;
 - (b) estimates the duration over which treatment will be completed;
 - (c) states the total charge for such treatment; and
 - (d) is accompanied by cephalometric X-rays, study models, photographs and such other supporting evidence as Great-West Life may reasonably require.
- (5) "Reasonable and customary charge" means the usual charge made for the covered dental expense, in the absence of coverage, but not more than the prevailing charge in the area where the expense is incurred.

A. PAYMENT OF BENEFITS

After satisfaction of the deductible, a benefit will be paid if a covered person incurs eligible charges for the covered dental procedures described in the List of Dental Services while covered for this coverage. Benefits will be equal to the covered percentage once the deductible has been satisfied, up to the maximum shown in the Summary of Coverages. The deductible and the covered percentage are shown in the Summary of Coverages.

Charge incurred

When a covered dental procedure requires multiple appointments to complete, the charge will be considered to have been incurred on the date the procedure was completed, subject to any limitations or exclusions in this coverage.

Materials to be furnished

In order to determine the eligible charges, Great-West Life may ask for pre-treatment X-rays and other diagnostic and evaluative materials. If they are not given, Great-West Life will determine eligible charges on the basis of the information which is available. This may reduce, or eliminate, the benefits which otherwise would have been payable.

Pre-determination of benefits

Great-West Life recommends that a treatment plan, in the form of a report prepared by the dental service provider, be submitted prior to commencement of treatment when:

- (1) the course of treatment is expected to cost more than \$600; or
- (2) there are alternative methods of treatment.

Great-West Life will review the treatment plan and advise the covered person of the amount payable under this coverage, **before** the dental work begins.

LIST OF DENTAL SERVICES

BASIC SERVICES

EXAMINATIONS

Complete oral examination, once every 3 years.

Periodic oral examination, twice every 12 months.

Specific oral-area examination, twice yearly.

Emergency oral-area examination.

X-RAY EXAMINATIONS (RADIOGRAPHS)

Complete series, including panoramic survey, once every 24 months.

Bitewing films, twice every 12 months.

Extraoral films.

Periapical and intraoral films.

Interpretation of radiographs from another source.

Tomography.

Hand and wrist radiographs - as a diagnostic aid for dental treatment.

Cephalometric films.

Temporomandibular joint films.

TESTS AND LABORATORY EXAMINATIONS

Cultures/smears for determining pathologic agents.

Biopsies.

Pulp vitality test.

Diagnostic casts - unmounted.

Radiopaque dyes.

CASE PRESENTATIONS

Consultation with patient - when performed on a day other than the day of the examination. Treatment planning.

PREVENTIVE SERVICES

Polishing and light scaling, twice every 12 months.

Fluoride treatment, twice every 12 months.

Oral hygiene instruction, twice every 12 months.

Pit and fissure sealants.

Caries/pain control.

Interproximal discing.

Space maintainers.

RESTORATIONS

Silver amalgams.

Silicate, acrylic or composite resins – for treatment of decay or accidental injury only. (If composites are used on posterior teeth, the eligible charge will be limited to the equivalent amalgam fee.)

57

Retentive pins.

Stainless-steel crowns and polycarbonate crowns - for primary teeth.

325299-B3

ENDODONTIC SERVICES

Pulp capping.

Pulpotomy.

Root canal therapy for permanent teeth, limited to one course of treatment per tooth. Repeat treatment is covered only if the original therapy fails after the first 18 months.

Periapical services.

Banding.

Hemisection.

Intentional removal, apical filling and reimplantation.

Emergency procedures.

Bleaching.

PERIODONTAL SERVICES

Non-surgical services, excluding training in personal therapeutic periodontal care.

Surgical services.

Post-surgical visits - 4 visits per year.

Occlusal adjustments – for periodontal purposes only.

Occlusal equilibration – maximum of 8 time units per lifetime.

Subgingival scaling and/or root planing - maximum of 8 time units per year.

Special periodontal appliance for bruxism only.

DENTURE SERVICES

Repairs.

Relines.

Rebasing.

Tissue conditioning.

ORAL SURGERY

Extractions - uncomplicated and complicated.

Removal of residual roots.

Surgical exposure of teeth.

Alveoloplasty, gingivoplasty, stomatoplasty and osteoplasty.

Surgical excisions.

Surgical incisions.

Frenectomy.

Treatment of fractures.

Miscellaneous surgical services – excluding a surcharge for immediate insertion of dentures.

58

ADJUNCTIVE SERVICES

House and hospital visit.

Office visit after regularly scheduled hours and no operative services performed.

Injection of drugs.

Anaesthesia and sedation - only when performed in conjunction with oral surgery.

325299-B3

MAJOR SERVICES

SINGLE RESTORATIONS

Onlays, inlays, crowns

- only if the tooth cannot be restored with a basic restoration.
- transitional (temporary) crowns are considered part of the final restoration.
- porcelain crowns on molar teeth.

Porcelain repairs.

Retentive pins, posts and cores.

Recementation.

Removal of crown or inlay.

PROSTHODONTICS - REMOVABLE

Complete standard dentures.

Immediate standard dentures.

Transitional standard dentures.

Partial dentures - including cast chrome (but not gold).

Denture adjustments - 3 months after insertion (once each year).

Remount and occlusal equilibration.

Denture additions.

PROSTHODONTICS - FIXED

Retainer inlays/onlays.

Abutment crowns and pontics - porcelain crowns and pontics for molars.

Repairs.

Retentive pins, post and cores, copings.

Removal of bridge.

ORTHODONTIC SERVICES

FOR YOUR DEPENDENT CHILDREN YOUNGER THAN AGE 18

The amount payable is the covered percentage of the reasonable and customary charge for the covered orthodontic services, up to the lifetime maximum. The covered percentage and lifetime maximum are shown in the Summary of Coverages.

An orthodontic treatment plan should be submitted prior to commencement of the orthodontic procedure. Great-West Life will review the treatment plan and advise you of the estimated benefits. The total eligible charges will then be paid in equal quarterly installments over a period of time equal to the estimated duration of the orthodontic treatment plan.

The following are covered orthodontic services:

- (1) Diagnostic services (once only) and surgical services.
- (2) Interceptive orthodontics.
- (3) Comprehensive orthodontics.
- (4) Habit-inhibiting appliances.

Expenses incurred in connection with any of the following are not covered:

- (1) Myofunctional therapy.
- (2) Charges for replacement or repair of an orthodontic appliance.
- (3) Motivation of a patient.
- (4) A procedure for which an active orthodontic appliance was installed before the individual became covered under this coverage.

B. LIMITATIONS AND EXCLUSIONS

Expenses incurred for any of the following are not covered:

- (1) Installation of fixed bridgework, removable, partial or complete dentures to replace teeth missing prior to the individual's becoming covered under this coverage, unless the partial or full removable denture or fixed bridgework also includes replacement of a natural tooth extracted while the individual was a covered person and the extracted tooth was not an abutment to a partial denture or fixed bridge installed within the immediately preceding 5 years.
- (2) Modification or replacement of removable dentures, fixed bridgework, crowns, inlays and onlays within 5 years of installation.
- (3) Fixed bridgework to replace removable dentures unless a professionally adequate result can only be achieved with fixed bridgework and fixed bridgework is a covered dental procedure.
- (4) Replacement of lost or stolen appliances.

Any charges incurred for, or in connection with, any of the following are not covered:

- (1) Expenses for which Great-West Life is prohibited by law from providing.
- (2) Expenses for which the covered person is not required to make payment, or where payment is received as a result of legal action or settlement.
- (3) Expenses payable under Workers' Compensation Act or similar law.
- (4) An examination by, or the services of a dentist if required solely for the use of a third party.
- (5) Duplication of a recent service by the same, or a different, dentist.
- (6) Cosmetic services (including facings on molar crowns or molar pontics) unless necessitated as a result of accidental injuries sustained while a covered person.
- (7) Procedures, appliances and restorations used to increase vertical dimension or to restore the occlusion.
- (8) Splinting for periodontal reasons where cast crowns, inlays, or onlays are used for this purpose.
- (9) Services for the correction of temporomandibular joint dysfunctions (TMJD).
- (10) Implantology, specialized services (including precision attachments and stress breakers) and services which are experimental in nature.

- (11) Laboratory charges exceeding 60% of the fixed fee for the procedure in the fee guide shown in the Summary of Coverages.
- (12) Services received for injuries sustained while committing, or attempting to commit, a criminal offence but not when injuries are sustained as a result of driving a vehicle when the covered person's blood contained more than 80 milligrams of alcohol in 100 millilitres of blood (.08).
- (13) Prefabricated metal and plastic restorations on permanent teeth.

Late entrants limitation

If an individual enrolls for the dental care coverage more than 31 days after first becoming eligible to do so, benefits will be limited to \$100 per covered person during the first 12 months of coverage.

This limitation will be waived under the following circumstances:

- (1) when the covered dental expense is the result of accidental injuries sustained while a covered person;
- (2) for a covered dependent child younger than 5 years of age; or
- (3) for a dependent
 - (a) who was previously covered for employee coverage under another group plan;
 - (b) whose coverage terminated due to termination of employment; and
 - (c) who enrolls for this coverage within 31 days of the prior coverage's termination.

C. PROOF OF CLAIM

Written proof of the loss on which a claim may be based must be given to Great-West Life within 15 months of the date the expense was incurred.

PART III. PREFERRED VISION SERVICES (PVS)

FOR YOU AND YOUR QUALIFIED DEPENDENTS

Preferred Vision Services (PVS) is a service provided by Great-West Life to its customers through PVS which is a preferred provider network company. It does not form part of the contract issued to the Contractholder by Great-West Life.

PVS entitles you to a discount on a wide selection of quality eyewear and lens extras (scratch guarding, tints, etc.) when you purchase these items from a PVS network optician or optometrist. A discount on laser eye surgery can be obtained through an organization that is part of the PVS network.

PVS also entitles you to a discount on hearing aids (batteries, tubing, ear molds, etc.) when you purchase these items from a PVS network.

You can use the PVS network as often as you wish for yourself and your qualified dependents.

Using PVS:

- (1) Call the **PVS Information Hotline** at **1-800-668-6444** or visit the **PVS web site** at **www.pvs.ca** for information about PVS locations and the program.
- (2) Arrange for a fitting, an eye examination, a hearing assessment or a hearing test, if needed.
- (3) Present your group benefit plan identification card, to identify your preferred status as a PVS member through Great-West Life, at the time the eyewear or the hearing aid is purchased, or at the initial consultation for laser eye surgery.
- (4) Pay the reduced PVS price. If you have vision care coverage or hearing aid coverage for the product or service, obtain a receipt and submit it with a claim form to your insurance carrier in the usual manner.

PART IV. DIAGNOSTIC AND TREATMENT SUPPORT SERVICES (BEST DOCTORS® SERVICE)

FOR YOU AND YOUR QUALIFIED DEPENDENTS

This service is designed to allow access to the expertise of specialists, resources, information and clinical guidance.

You, your dependents and your and your dependent's physician can access this service if the physician has made a diagnosis of a serious physical illness or condition for which there is objective evidence, or if the covered person or his or her physician suspects that the person has this condition. This service is made up of a unique step-by-step process that may help address questions or concerns about a serious physical illness or condition. This may include confirming the diagnosis and suggesting the most effective treatment plan by drawing on a global database of up to 50,000 peer-ranked specialists.

It works as follows:

- access diagnostic and treatment support services by calling 1-877-419-BEST (2378) toll free;
- the person accessing the service will be connected with a member advocate who will be dedicated to his or her case and will provide support through the process; the member advocate will take the necessary medical history and answer his or her questions; any information provided is not shared with either your employer or the administrator of your health plan;
- based on the information provided, the member advocate determines the optimal level of service required;
- the member advocate may provide information, resources, guidance and advice individually tailored to meet the covered person's health needs, and can help identify individual community supports and resources available;
- if it is appropriate, the member advocate may arrange for an in-depth review of the
 covered person's medical file to assist in confirming the diagnosis and help develop
 a treatment plan; this review may include collecting, deconstructing and
 reconstructing medical records, pathology retesting and analyzing test results; a
 written report outlining the conclusions and recommendations of the specialists will
 be forwarded to the person accessing this service; generally, this process takes 6 to
 8 weeks; timeframes may vary depending on the complexity of the case and amount
 of medical records to collect;
- if the covered person decides to seek treatment by a different physician, the member advocate can help identify a specialist qualified to meet his or her specific medical needs; expenses incurred for travel and treatment are not covered by this service;
- if the covered person decides to seek treatment outside Canada, the member advocate can arrange referrals and can help book accommodations; the member advocate can also assist in accessing hospital and physician discounts, arrange for the forwarding of medical information and monitor the treatment process; expenses incurred for travel and treatment are not covered by this service, and

 the member advocate may identify a Best Doctors specialist suited to answer basic questions about health concerns and treatment options; answers will be provided in a written report sent by email to the person accessing the service.

Note: These services are not insured services. Great-West Life is not responsible for the provision of the services, their results, or any treatment received or requested in connection with the services.

You are eligible for diagnostic and treatment support services if you are covered for one or more of life, disability, or basic health care benefits under your employer's benefit program, and those benefits are insured or administered by Great-West Life.

Your dependents are eligible if they are a spouse or child:

- who is covered for basic benefits under your employer's benefit program insured or administered by Great-West Life;
- for whom you have waived basic benefits under your employer's benefit program because that coverage is being provided under your spouse's group benefit program; or
- where there is no coverage for basic benefits for a spouse or a child under either your employer's benefit program or your spouse's group benefit program, who otherwise meets the definition of spouse or child, under the agreement under which diagnostic and treatment support services are provided.

Your coverage terminates when you are no longer eligible, or when your employer or Great-West Life discontinues the plan. Your dependents' coverage terminates when your coverage terminates or when they are no longer eligible, whichever is earlier.

PART V. CONTACT - EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM

FOR YOU AND YOUR QUALIFIED DEPENDENTS

The Contact employee assistance program provides you and your qualified dependents with access to confidential counselling and information services.

The services provided under the Contact employee assistance program are available by dialing the toll-free number shown below. This toll-free number is staffed 24 hours a day, 7 days a week by intake counsellors who can provide immediate support and counselling, respond to crisis or emergency situations or schedule appointments.

For service in English: 1-800-387-4765 For service in French: 1-800-361-5676

For more information on the services available under the Contact employee assistance program, please see the employee assistance program brochure provided by your plan administrator or visit the employee assistance program: www.shepellfgi.com.